
 
 

Agenda 
 

Extraordinary Council Meeting 
 
Date: Wednesday, 17 September 2025 
Time 7.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT 
 
Quorum = 16 

 
  Pages 

Recording and Privacy Notice 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in 
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording 
being published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.   Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

and procedures are advised that:  

(a) The fire alarm is a continuous loud ringing. In the event that a fire 
drill is planned during the meeting, the Chair will advise of this. 

(b) Exit routes from the chamber are located on each side of the room, 
one directly to a fire escape, the other to the stairs opposite the 
lifts. 

(c) In the event of the alarm sounding, leave the building via the 
nearest safe exit and gather at the assembly point on the far side of 
the car park. Do not leave the assembly point or re-enter the 
building until advised to do so. Do not use the lifts.  

(d) Anyone unable to use the stairs should make themselves known 
during this agenda item. 

 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

 
2.   Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to 

declare in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an 

item must leave the room for that item and may not participate in the 

debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this 

and leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting. 

 

 

4.   Local Government Review 
 

3 - 20 

 

Issued on Tuesday, 9 September 2025 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact democraticservices@swale.gov.uk. To find out more 
about the work of the Council, please visit www.swale.gov.uk.  
 
 
 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
http://www.swale.gov.uk/


 
Page 1 of 5 

COUNCIL   

Meeting Date 17 September 2025 

Report Title Local Government Reorganisation options 

EMT Lead Larissa Reed – Chief Executive 

Head of Service Larissa Reed – Chief Executive 

Lead Officer Larissa Reed – Chief Executive 

Classification Open 

Recommendations That Council: 
 

1. Note the contents of the report and the work 
undertaken so far by Kent Leaders and Chief 
Executives 

2. That Council agree to remain part of the Kent 
programme which is working with KPMG to produce full 
business cases for model 3 and model 4b for Local 
Government Reorganisation. 

 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the progress made to date in relation to Local Government 

Reorganisation  and sets out the options for Swale to continue in the process 

 
 

2 Background 
 

2.1 On 16 December 2024 the Government published the ‘English Devolution White 
Paper - Power and partnerships: Foundations for growth’ which made clear their 
intent to deliver both devolution and local government reorganisation. A report was 
taken to an Extraordinary Full Council on 4 February to outline the contents of the 
White Paper and the possible implications for the Council and the Borough. A 
number of all-councillor briefings (written and verbal) have also been provided on 
the issue 
 

2.2 The Leaders of Kent County Council, Medway Council and the District and 
Borough Councils have led the process to choose the geographies. On 13 August 
2025 Kent Leaders considered ten geographical models and decided that options 
appraisals would be undertaken on 7 geographical models (see appendix 1), with a 
view to 2 being taken to full business case. The models for which an options 
appraisal was undertaken were: 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 
Page 2 of 5 

Model 1 – a single county unitary 
Model 3 – 3 unitary councils -    Swale with Medway, Gravesham and Dartford. 
Model 4a – 4 unitary councils – Swale with Canterbury and Thanet 
Model 4b – 4 unitary councils – Swale with Ashford and Folkestone and Hythe 
Model 4c – 4 unitary councils – Swale with Ashford and Maidstone 
Model 4d – 4 unitary councils – Swale split with Faversham moving East 
Model 5 – 5 unitary councils –   Swale split with Faversham moving East. 
 
 

2.3 A two unitary model was not taken forward to options appraisal. 
 

2.4 A more detailed map showing the models for which options appraisals were 
undertaken can be found at Appendix 2. 

 

2.5 Swale Group Leaders have met informally every fortnight to discuss matters 
relating to Local Government Reorganisation and to ensure that when the Leader 
of the Council attends the meetings of Kent Leaders, he is able to share the view of 
all groups in the council. 

 

2.6 The Group Leaders had discussed all the options prior to each Kent Leaders 
meetings and the majority had indicated that Model 4C was the preferred option for 
Swale. Although the Group Leaders advised that 4A or 4B would also be 
acceptable. 

 

2.7 The Kent Leaders met on 3 September 2025 to discuss the options appraisal and 
agree which two options would go forward to full business case.  

 

2.8 As there was no clear consensus of a preferred model for Kent. The Leaders of the 
Kent Councils agreed to undertake the following process 

 
Stage 1  
 
Leaders considered the models assessment based on the KPMG metrics and its 
alignment with government criteria.  
 
Leaders sought a consensus on which two models are taken forward to business 
case.  
 
As there was no clear consensus on which two models to take forward Leaders 
undertook a further stage 
 
Stage 2  
Under stage 2 it was agreed that the following was required 
 
- A model must be supported by at least one Leader to be considered (each 
leader may support only one model).  
-Leaders will be asked to name their preferred choice of model, with the two 
models receiving the most support to be taken forward to business case.  

Page 4



 
Page 3 of 5 

-Leaders will be asked whether they support adding any additional models, 
acknowledging the additional cost it will add to the joint process. If the addition of 
a further model(s) receives majority support, it will be included in the joint 
process.  

 
Councils wishing to pursue a model not agreed for a full business case may do so 
independently but will need to fund the business case development themselves. 

 
2.9 The models with the most votes by Kent Leaders were Options 3 and 4B. 
 
2.10 If Swale wishes to pursue model 4C to full business case, KPMG will undertake 

the work on our behalf at a cost of £80,000. 
 

2.11 The alternative to KMPG developing a full business case for Option 4C is for 
members to agree to support the two models (3 and 4B) being developed into a 
full business case with a view to members deciding which one to support at the 
council meeting in November 2025. 
 

2.12 There is a possibility that another Council in Kent may choose to undertake a full 
business case of another of the models. We are certain that no other council 
wishes to commission an additional full business for option 4C. 
 
 

3.0 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 

The option to commission KPMG to prepare a full business case for option 4C (or 
one of the other options) has been considered and is feasible and although it has 
not been rejected, it is not recommended due to the cost £80,000 which must be 
funded from council resources. 

 
4.0 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

Other than member briefings and meetings with Parish and Town Councils, there 
has been no formal consultation on this. 
 

 
5.0    Implications 
 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Local Government Reorganisation is not currently part of the 
corporate plan, however it is a key piece of work which is critical to 
the future of services in Swale  

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The cost of the business case will be £80k. The council approved a 
one off funding allocation of £100k for LGR work in the 2025/26 
budget. This is currently funding the uplift of the Senior LGR officer 
and the LGR support officer  which will cost c £39k in 2025/26 and 
£52k in 2026/27. This funding allocation could support some of the 
cost of a business case in 25/26 (c£60k) but a further growth bid 

Page 5



 
Page 4 of 5 

would then be required in 26/27 to fund the officers delivering LGR 
for Swale. 
Alternatively further reserve funding could be allocated to fund the 
business case, but once again this goes with the caveats that 
means a reduction in the reserve balances in place to support the 
council’s overall budget position as per the MTFP. 

 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

The is the proposed legislation which covers Local Government 
Reorganisation is English Devolution and Community 
Empowerment Bill. Proposals need to be with Government by 28 
November 2025 

Crime and 
Disorder 

There are no direct crime and disorder implications of this proposal 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

There are no direct Environmental Emergency implications of this 
proposal 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

There is no direct Health and Wellbeing impact of this proposal 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

There are no direct safeguarding implications of this proposal 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

There are no direct health and safety implications of this proposal 

Equality and 
Diversity 

There are no direct Equality and Diversity implications of this 
proposal 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

There are no direct privacy or data protection implications of this 
proposal 

 

7 Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1: Maps of models considered for options appraisal 

• Appendix 2: Maps of models for which options appraisal were undertaken 

 
8 Background Papers 

None 

Page 6



 
Page 5 of 5 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Models for appraisal 
Ten potential options were raised at the start of the options appraisal, but Leaders jointly agreed to rule out three options, with seven 

remaining in scope for the options appraisal. 
 

Single unitary 
 

1a 1b 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

1a Single unitary with three area 

assemblies 

 1b A single large unitary across 

the whole of Kent. 

 

Four unitaries 

4a 4b 4c 4d* 

Five unitaries 

5a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Key: 

White line – District Boundary 

Dotted line – Boundary Change 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key: 

White line – District Boundary 

Dotted line – Boundary Change 

 
 

 

 

 

. 

     

A four unitary option with unitaries in the 

north west, north east, south west and 

south east. 

A four unitary option with unitaries in the 

north, west, centre and east with 

Folkestone and Hythe in the central unitary. 

A four unitary option with unitaries in the 

north, west, centre and east with 

Maidstone in the central unitary. 

 
The 5-unitary model proposes the following areas: Dartford, 

Gravesham, parts of Medway west of the River Medway, and Swanley; 

Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling, Tunbridge Wells, and Maidstone 

(excluding Swanley); the remainder of Medway with the western part of 

Swale (Sittingbourne area); the rest of Swale (Faversham area) 

combined with Canterbury and Thanet; and finally, Ashford, Folkestone 

& Hythe, and Dover.

N W E M S 

330,536 544,814 342,934 340,286 373,115 

 

N W E M 

615,931 402,914 497,034 415,805 

 

N W E M 

528,337 379,295 536,970 487,082 

 

N W E M 

528,337 567,062 424,559 411,726 

 

N W E S 

528,337 567,062 463,170 373,115 

 

A three unitary option with a north, east and 

west unitary. 

3a 

Three unitaries 

An east and west two unitary option with 

Swale in the west.  An east and west two unitary option with Swale 

in the east. 

2b 2 

Two unitaries 

1a 

1,931,684 

 

1b 

1,931,684 

 

W E 

1,095,399 836,285 

 

W E 

1,253,778 677,906 

 

N W E 

686,716 567,062 677,906 

 

P
age 9



 

 

 
 

 

Models in scope for options appraisal  

Seven options are in scope for the options appraisal. 
 

Single unitary 
 

1a 

 

5a* 

Five unitaries 

 

N W E M S 

330,536 544,814 342,934 340,286 373,115 

Key: 

White line – District Boundary 

Dotted line – Boundary Change 

 
 
 

 
. 

1a Single unitary with three area assemblies 

 
The 5-unitary model proposes the following areas: Dartford, Gravesham, parts of Medway west of the River 

Medway, and Swanley; Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling, Tunbridge Wells, and Maidstone (excluding Swanley); 

the remainder of Medway with the western part of Swale (Sittingbourne area); the rest of Swale (Faversham area) 

combined with Canterbury and Thanet; and finally, Ashford, Folkestone & Hythe, and Dover. 
 

Four unitaries 

4a 4b 4c 4d* 
 
 
 

 
Key: 

White line – District Boundary 

Dotted line – Boundary Change 

 

A four unitary option with unitaries in the north west, north 

east, south west and south east. 

A four unitary option with unitaries in the north, west, centre 

and east with Folkestone and Hythe in the central unitary. 

A four unitary option with unitaries in the north, west, 

centre and east with Maidstone in the central unitary. 

. A four unitary option with unitaries in the north, west, 

centre and east with boundary changes. 

 

N W E S 

528,337 567,062 463,170 373,115 

 

N W E M 

528,337 567,062 424,559 411,726 

 

N W E M 

528,337 379,295 536,970 487,082 

 

N W E M 

615,931 402,914 497,034 415,805 

 

Three unitaries 

3a 

A three unitary option with a north, east and west unitary. 

1a 

1,931,684 

 

N W E 

686,716 567,062 677,906 

 

P
age 10



 

 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Dartford

Gravesham

Medway

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe

1a

1,931,684

Option 1a – 
Single Unitary

P
age 13



N W E

686,716 567,062 677,906 

Option 3a – Three 
Unitaries

Dartford

Gravesham

Medway

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe

.

P
age 14



Option 4a – Four 
Unitaries

Dartford

Gravesham

Medway

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe

N W E S

528,337 567,062 463,170 373,115 

.

P
age 15



Option 4b – Four 
Unitaries

N W E M

528,337 567,062 424,559 411,726 

Dartford

Gravesham

Medway

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe

P
age 16



Option 4c – Four 
Unitaries 

N W E M

528,337 379,295 536,970 487,082 

Dartford

Gravesham

Medway

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe

P
age 17



Dartford 

(North) Medway 

(North)

Swale 

(North)

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells 

(West)

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe 

(Mid)

Gravesham 

(West)

Tunbridge Wells 

(Mid)

Swale 

(Mid)

Folkestone and 

Hythe 

(East)

Gravesham 

(North)Dartford 

(West))

Medway 

(West)

Key
White line – District Boundary
Dotted line – Boundary Change 

N W E M

615,931 402,914 497,034 415,805

Option 4d – Four 
Unitaries* 

P
age 18



Option 5a – Five 
Unitaries*

Dartford

Gravesham

Medway

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge and 

Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Ashford

Canterbury

Dover

Thanet

Folkestone and Hythe

(Faversham)

(Medway - South 

of River)

(Swanley)

Key
White line – District Boundary
Dotted line – Boundary Change 

N W E M S

330,536 544,814 342,934 340,286 373,115

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Local Government Review
	LGR Report Appendix 1
	Kent LGR  Visual Maps of Geographies Appendix 2
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7



